ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2

1

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

David M. Schieck

302 E. Carson Ave., Ste. 600 Las Vegas, NV 89101 (702) 382-1844

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

LAILONI MORRISON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

FILED

MAR 2.0 2003

Case No. 40097

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

DAVID M. SCHIECK, ESQ. LAW OFFICE OF DAVID M. SCHIECK 302 EAST CARSON AVE., STE. 600 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89101

DAVID ROGER DISTRICT ATTORNEY 200 S. THIRD STREET LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89155

BRIAN SANDOVAL NEVADA ATTORNEY GENERAL 100 N. CARSON STREET CARSON CITY, NV (702)687 - 3538

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

MAILED ON 3/18/03

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Joseph Williams (aka Doughboy) was shot and killed on March 3, 2001 and on May 18, 2001 a criminal complaint was filed charging Ashley Bennett, Antwant Graves, Lailoni Morrison (hereinafter referred to as MORRISON), Anthony Gannt and Jermaine Webb with Conspiracy to Commit Murder and Murder with Use of Deadly Weapon with the Intent to promote a criminal gang (1 APP 1-3). At the conclusion of the preliminary hearing only Bennett, MORRISON and Gannt were bound over to stand trial on the murder charge. An Information was filed in District Court on June 7, 2001. (1 APP 4-7)

The District Court granted Motions to sever the trials of the defendants (1 APP 152; 155). The trial of Bennett was set first, however, on the eve of trial, co-defendant Gannt entered into a plea negotiation with the State in exchange for his testimony against Bennett and MORRISON (1 APP 159). Bennett's trial was therefore continued and commenced on January 22, 2002 (1 APP 164). The trial concluded and closing arguments were heard on Friday, February 1, 2002 and on Monday, February 4, 2002 the jury returned a verdict of First Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon (1 APP 177-8). The Court conducted the sentencing and sentenced Bennett on June 18, 2002 to Life in prison without the possibility of parole (1 APP 184).

An Amended Information was filed on May 28, 2002 against MORRISON. (1 APP 79-82) MORRISON'S trial started on May 29, 2002 and concluded with closing arguments on June 6, 2002 (1

David M. Schieck Attorney At Law

APP 148). On June 7, 2002 the jury returned a verdict of second degree murder with use of a deadly weapon (1 APP 149). MORRISON was sentenced on August 1, 2002 to consecutive life sentences of life in prison with eligibility for parole after ten years (1 APP 131-132).

The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on August 15, 2002 (1 APP 133-134).

Attorney At Law Attorney At Law 02 E. Carson Ave., Ste. 600 Las Vegas, NV 89101 (702) 382-1844

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Throughout the various testimony individuals are referred to by both their street names and their real names. In order to make the testimony most understandable, reference herein will by the real names. The various street names are as follow: Wayne Gannt (Wacky G); Louis Matthews (Chew, Chewy or Chew Wak); Ashley Bennett (Face); Antwon Graves (T Wak); and Joseph Williams (Doughboy).

Monique Hunt had an on and off boyfriend relationship with Joseph Williams (3 APP 48). He had a key to her apartment on Morton Street and if he needed a place to take a shower, change clothes or rest he had permission to use her apartment (3 APP 50). She left her home on March 3, 2001 at around 10:00 AM and when she returned about 3:00 in the afternoon there was no where to park because of the paramedics and crowds of people so she parked across Martin Luther King at her grandmother's house (3 APP 50-51). Shortly thereafter her aunt came running up and told her that Williams had been shot so she took off and followed the ambulance to the hospital (3 APP 53). She stayed at the hospital until she learned that Williams had passed (3 APP 53).

Hunt also knew MORRISON and his girlfriend, Stephanie Riedel who was her best friend in high school (3 APP 56-57). It was common knowledge that Williams was her boyfriend (3 APP 57).

Security Officer James Golden was traveling through Carey

Arms in a golf cart with maintenance worker Don Stewart on March 3, 2001 when he heard about 20 gunshots (2 APP 105-107). He posted up behind a tree and when the shooting stopped ran toward Morton Street to see if he could see anyone leaving the area in a vehicle (2 APP 107-110). Not seeing anything he went back to the golf cart and saw a number of people running through a park area (2 APP 110). A individual he knew as Wayne appeared to making gestures with his hand like he was trying to put something in his pants (2 APP 113-115). Subsequently, Golden picked Gannt out of a photo lineup as the person he saw running (2 APP 116).

Immediately after the gunshots Golden called his dispatch, and then went to the area of the gunshots and found one subject laying partially face down on the ground and then called for medical assistance (2 APP 118). Before approaching the body, Golden checked to be sure that the area was clear and did not see anyone on any of the surrounding balconies (2 APP 123). Three individuals approached and attempted to move Willims into a car to take him to the hospital, but Golden stopped them (2 APP 118-119).

Golden knew and recognized MORRISON and did not see him present at any time on March 3, 2001 (2 APP 127-128).

Anthony Gannt was 15 years old on March 3, 2001 (2 APP 21). On that afternoon, he along with MORRISON, Bennett, Matthews, Graves and others had gathered at the house of Mark Doyle who had been killed the day before (2 APP 24). Gannt

arrived at around 10:00 AM and left around 1:30 PM with MORRISON, Matthews, Graves and Bennett to go to the Hunt's house to shoot it up (2 APP 25-26). It was Bennett's idea because the Gerson Park Kingsmen were feuding with the Rolling 60's and the Hunt's house was Rolling 60's (2 APP 26).

On the way they ran into security and turned back around at which time they observed Joseph Williams coming out of an apartment (2 APP 30). Based on the fact that Williams was a Rolling 60 they started shooting him (2 APP 30). According to Gannt, Graves was the first one to shoot and was shooting a nine-millimeter as were Bennett and Matthews (2 APP 33). Gannt had a .32 and MORRISON a .38 Super (2 APP 33-34). After everyone had emptied their clips they split up, with Gannt leaving with his friend, Henry (2 APP 35). The last one to shoot was Matthews, who walked up to the body and started shooting (2 APP 47-48). Henry had been there the entire time, but Gannt was not sure if he was shooting or, but he did hear bullets flying past his head from where Henry was located (2 APP 36).

Gannt and Henry ran to the home of two girls and Henry reloaded his .357 revolver and they waited for the police to leave (2 APP 38-41). Gannt denied that he had walked over to Williams and fired his .32 pistol into the body (2 APP 95). While they were waiting an individual known as R Wak came to the apartment and took the .32 back, because Gannt had borrowed the gun from him at the Doyle's house (2 APP 41-42). Gannt had

specifically borrowed the gun for the purpose of going and shooting up the Hunt's house (2 APP 70).

With respect to Pam Neal, Gannt denied that she was present at the time of the shooting or standing on her balcony (2 APP 96-97; 99). He was sure because he looked up there and she wasn't there (2 APP 101). Gannt was aware that Pam Neal blamed MORRISON for the death of her cousin Eric Bass (2 APP 101).

Gannt claimed that he had known MORRISON for five years when the incident occurred (2 APP 50; 52). Gannt was of the opinion that MORRISON was a member of the GPK because he used to hang around the Carey Arms and say he was a member and because he had crown tattoes on his chest and arm (2 APP 53-56). In Court, MORRISON showed his arms and chest to Gannt, and Gannt did not see any tattoos of a crown (2 APP 57). Gannt claimed that all of the other individuals were members of the GPK, but that he was not a member, but rather just hung out with them (2 APP 64). Gannt also claimed that MORRISON was firing a shiny chrome .38 Super that belonged to Henry and MORRISON just had it for that one day (2 APP 88-90).

On March 21, 2001, Gannt was contacted by the police and he told them that he was not involved in the shooting (2 APP45). He was again contacted on May 7th and at first minimized his involvement and later told them the truth (2 APP 45). Gannt reached his agreement with the State on November 26, 2001 and prior thereto had given another statement on

Autorney At Law Attorney At Law O2 E. Carson Ave., Ste. 600 Las Vegas, NV 89101 (702) 382-1844

November 21st describing his involvement (2 APP 46-47).

Gannt as a result of negotiations with the State pled guilty to second degree murder and conspiracy to commit murder, with the agreed sentence being ten to life on the murder and the State retaining the right to argue on the conspiracy to commit murder (2 APP 23). Pursuant to the agreement Gannt agreed to testify against Bennett and MORRISON (2 APP 23). He decided to take the deal so he wouldn't face life in prison without the possibility of parole (2 APP 60). Gannt was aware that if he did not testify the way the State wanted him to, that the prosecutors could argue for the Court to sentence him to a consecutive ten years on the conspiracy to commit murder charge (2 APP 63-64).

On March 3, 2001 Pam Neal lived at 2529 Morton, Apartment D, which was an upstairs apartment (2 APP 128-129). At around 3:30 to 3:40 in the afternoon she was preparing to take her downstairs neighbor, Michelle Wilson to work (2 APP 129-130). After Neal locked her door, she turned and was standing on her balcony when shooting started (2 APP 130-131). As she was turning she observed Williams coming on the side of the building and he appeared to be talking with several guys when they pulled out guns and started shooting (2 APP 132). She knew that Williams was associated with the Rolling 60's (2 APP 133). There were five or six shooters and she recognized three of them, MORRISON, Gannt and Bennett (2 APP 133-135). Contrary to the description given by Gannt, Neal described the gun used

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

by MORRISON as being a black gun and that MORRISON shot first (2 APP 137; 147). Contrary to the physical evidence she testified that MORRISON went up to within 3 feet of Williams and was firing shots (3 APP 20). She further testified that Gannt was the last one to shoot Williams contrary to his testimony (2 APP 147). She stood on the balcony in the same spot of for 15 or 16 minutes (3 APP 10). She stayed there until her daughter opened the door and told her that Eric was on the phone and then Neal went down the stairs (3 APP 14).

When the police arrived at the crime scene she did not tell them what had happened because it was none of her business (2 APP 146). Neal was downstairs when the police came and one of them came up and asked her questions but she told them that she didn't know anything (3 APP 16). She changed her mind and went to the police after her cousin Eric Bass was killed and nobody would talk to the police (2 APP 146). On April 15th her cousin was killed she was arrested and charged with conspiracy to commit murder, burglary with a deadly weapon, battery with a deadly weapon with substantial bodily harm, discharging a firearm into a structure, and coercion with a deadly weapon (2 APP 149; 150-151). Charges against her were dismissed by the District Attorney on the day of the preliminary hearing in the case at bar (2 APP 149). She was not promised anything in exchange for her testimony (2 APP 150). While she was on the stand at the preliminary hearing she was given immunity by the District Attorney while she was on the stand (2 APP 157).

Her charges arose out of an incident where she was trying to find out who had killed Bass (2 APP 158). She thought that MORRISON was involved in Bass' death (2 APP 161).

North Las Vegas police officer Jason Arnona was dispatched to the call of shots fired at 3:09 PM (3 APP 61). He arrived at the scene within 15 seconds and observed a black male lying face down with obvious gunshot injuries (3 APP 62-63). After medical and assistance arrived Arnona started going door to door trying to find out what had happened by talking to witnesses (3 APP 68). Of all the doors he knocked on only four people answered the door and none of those four had seen anything (3 APP 69-71). Later he impounded Williams' vehicle and found a wallet and paperwork belonging to Williams (3 APP 72).

Officer Robert Aker also responded to the scene of the shooting and when he arrived there was a crowd of 25 to 30 people and he started putting up crime scene tape (3 APP 80). He attempted to interview the persons that were present and only got responses from two persons that could not identify the shooters (3 APP 83-84). Officer Eric Garcia also canvassed the area and knocked on doors looking for witnesses with negative results (3 APP 91).

Crime scene analyst Sandra Nielson-Hanes assisted Sergeant Anthony Dimauro and analyst Gerald Heredia in processing the scene of the shooting (3 APP 95-96). She marked and photographed items of evidence as well prepared a rough sketch

diagram of the crime scene (3 APP 100-101). In total she collected 39 pieces of different evidence including blood samples, projectiles, casings, and bloody clothing (3 APP 105). There were four different types or brands of casings collected (3 APP 108).

The autopsy of Williams was performed by Dr. Gary
Telgenhoff on March 4, 2001 (4 APP 7). There were obvious
multiple gunshot wounds to the body (4 APP 10). There were 14
bullet entrance wounds and no gunpowder residue meaning that
all shots were fired from more than two feet away (4 APP 2930). At least six of the wounds were to the backside (4 APP
37). One projectile was recovered from the body at the
hospital (4 APP 43) and five at the autopsy (4 APP 49). The
cause of death was determined to be multiple gunshot wounds and
the manner to be homicide (4 APP 31).

On April 15, 2001 LVMPD Officer Patricia Spencer came into contact a male juvenile that was observed throwing something to the ground (4 APP 56). The individual was identified as Orlando Walker and a Colt .38 firearm found on the ground was impounded along with a magazine from Walker's pocket (4 APP 57; 59).

Detectives Preito and Morgan were present when arrested MORRISON on May 18, 2001 at 2895 East Charleston Boulevard (4 APP 63). Preito assisted in the search of the apartment and recovered a .32 seven shot revolver from a box in the master bedroom (4 APP 66). MORRISON when asked about the gun

explained that he had just purchased it a week earlier from a guy at the Lucky 7 Market (4 APP 67).

Detective Michael Bodnar was the lead detective on the Williams homicide (4 APP 71). Based on information he had received he interviewed Wayne Gannt on March 7, 2001, and Ashley Bennett on March 24, 2001 (4 APP 75-76). On May 1, 2001 he interviewed Pam Neal and she gave him information about the case (4 APP 77). Bodnar made her no promises in exchange for her information and offered her no leniency with respect to her pending case (4 APP 78). It was after speaking with Neal that Bodnar went back and again conducted an interview with Gannt (4 APP 79). When MORRISON was arrested he was taken to the NLV Police department and interviewed (4 APP 88). His statement was the subject of the Motion to Suppress which is discussed below (4 APP 88).

Orlando Walker knew MORRISON only by his first name
Lailoni (4 APP 122-123). Walker testified that he found the
Colt .38 and clip in the little slot by the garbage cans about
two weeks after Williams was shot (4 APP 124). When he was
interviewed by the police about the gun on May 25, 2001 he told
them he got the gun from MORRISON (4 APP 125-126). The reason
that he said he got the gun from MORRISON was because of what
the police had already told him (4 APP 127). He also told the
police that he had gotten the gun for protection because his
little niece had been shot (4 APP 128). On cross-examination,
Walker was adamant that he did not get the gun from MORRISON

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

and did not have any conversation with MORRISON concerning the gun (4 APP 131).

Firearms and tool mark examiner James Krylo examined the cases, projectiles and firearm that was recovered and reached a number of opinions. Several bullet jackets and a core recovered at the scene were consistent with being fired from the Colt .38 Super semi-automatic pistol recovered from Walker (5 APP 15-17; 29-30). Nine cartridge cases at the scene matched the Colt .38 super (5 APP 31). Eight casings recovered had been fired from the same 9mm pistol that was not recovered (5 APP 22-23). One recovered bullet jacket had been fired from a Colt .32 semiautomatic pistol that had been recovered in a different case (5 APP 24-25). Seven cartridge cases recovered from the scene had been fired from the .32 (5 APP 29). projectiles recovered from the body were consistent with having been fired from a 9mm Luger (5 APP 25-27). Four cartridge cases had been fired from an unidentified 9mm firearm (5 APP A minimum of four different firearms were identified from the recovered evidence (5 APP 36). The .38 super was chrome and the only part that was black was the grips (5 APP 47).

Private investigator Jim Thomas had examined the body of MORRISON in preparation for trial and informed the jury that he only had one tattoo, of a heart on his right shoulder (5 APP 66). There was no indication that any tattoos had been removed (5 APP 67). Thomas had also gone to the balcony where Pam Neal claimed to have observed MORRISON shooting and photographed a

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

large pine tree that would have obstructed her view of the location (5 APP 68-71). He stationed his secretary at the location and was unable to see her from the Neal balcony (5 APP 73).

Michelle Wilson lived downstairs from the apartment of Pam Neal on March 3rd (6 APP 8). On that date she first saw Neal at about 11:00 AM and Neal was getting high, smoking marijuana Neal was also drinking a four pack of Smirnoff (6 APP 10). Vodka (6 APP 11). At about 2:30 in the afternoon Wilson went into her apartment and started getting ready for work as she was supposed to be at work at 4:30 PM and she would usually leave for work at about 3:45 PM (6 APP 12). Wilson would pay Neal \$5 per day to take her to work (6 APP 13). Wilson was inside her apartment curling her hair when she heard gunshots (6 APP 15). She started to run to close the door, but instead ran and hid in her storage closet (6 APP 15). When Wilson came out of the closet, Neal was standing there and asked her if she had seen anything (6 APP 16). Shortly thereafter Eric Bass came into the apartment and stated that Avian had been killed and at no point did Neal correct him and state that Williams was the victim of the shooting (6 APP 16-17). When the police arrived, both Wilson and Neal went outside and told them that they had not seen anything (6 APP 18). Pam Neal was married to Wilson's cousin, David Neal and Wilson had know her for about 15 years (6 APP 19). In Wilson's opinion Neal was a very untruthful person (6 APP 20).

ARGUMENT

I.

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING MORRISON'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS HIS STATEMENT

Prior to trial MORRISON filed a Motion to Suppress the statement he gave to the police on the day he was arrested. (1 APP 8-22) The statement taken from MORRISON was involuntary and coerced and taken in violation of his rights under the Fourth and Fifth Amendment to be not subjected to unreasonable search and seizure and right to remain silent. The District Court after hearing the Motion and watching the videotape of the statement suppressed any statements made after the 1:47:07 time on the tape. (1 APP 137) This constituted only the last few pages of the statement and did not address the numerous other improprieties that occurred during the statement.

A confession is admissible only if it is made freely and voluntarily, without compulsion or inducement. Jackson v. <u>Denno</u>, 378 U.S. 368, 84 S.Ct. 1774, 12 L.Ed.2d 908 (1964); <u>Franklin v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 417, 610 P.2d 732 (1980). to be voluntary, a confession must be the product of a rational intellect and a free will. Blackburn v. Alabama, 361 U.S. 199, 80 S.Ct. 274, 4 L.Ed.2d 242 (1960); <u>Passama v. State</u>, 103 Nev. 212, 735 P.2d 321 (1987).

A confession is involuntary where it is coerced by physical intimidation or psychological pressure. Townsend v. Sain, 372 U.S. 293, 83 S.Ct. 745, 9 L.Ed.2d 770 (1963);

15

16 **17**

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Passama, supra.

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