IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 1 2 3 4 ORIGINAL 5 LAILONI MORRISON, 6 Appellant, Case No. 40097 7 v. 8 THE STATE OF NEVADA, 9 Respondent. MAY 23 2003 10 CLERICOF SUPREME COURT 11 RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF 12 Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County 13 14 DAVID ROGER Clark County District Attorney DAVID M. SCHIECK Attorney at Law Nevada Bar No. 000824 15 Nevada Bar #002781 302 East Carson Avenue, Suite No. 600 Clark County Courthouse 200 South Third Street, Suite 701 16 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 382-1844 Post Office Box 552212 17 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 455-4711 18 Staté of Nevada 19 **BRIAN SANDOVAL** Nevada Attorney Gener

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

The threshold question for the admissibility of evidence is relevance. Brown v. State, 107 Nev. 164, 168, 807 P.2d 1379, 1382 (1991). All relevant evidence is admissible, unless its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. NRS 48.025, NRS 48.035(1). NRS 48.015 states "relevant evidence' means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it

² The State dismissed her charges on the same day that the Defendant's preliminary hearing was conducted.

would be without the evidence." It is within the district court's discretion to determine whether evidence is relevant and whether that evidence is substantially prejudicial. Brown v. State, 107 Nev. 164, 168, 807 P.2d 1379, 1382 (1991). "Absent an abuse of discretion by the trial court, the decision will not be overturned on appeal." Robins v. State, 106 Nev. 611, 622, 798 P.2d 558, 565 (1990); citing Turpen v. State, 94 Nev. 576, 577, 583 P.2d 1083, 1084 (1978); See Browne v. State, 113 Nev. 305, 314, 933 P.2d 187, 192 (1997); citing to Domingues v. State, 112 Nev. 683, 695, 917 P.2d 1364, 1367 (1996).

In the instant case, it is clear that the facts that were before the court presented an issue of whether the relevant evidence was more probative than prejudicial. Although the court relies on NRS 50.085 as its reasoning, the court makes basic indications that its reasoning was geared more towards preventing prejudicial testimony and evidence from coming in. The court did not want to waste time or confuse the jury by going into a separate crime that the witness was allegedly involved with.

THE COURT: ...And the ultimate issue for the Court in most of these things, you do have a right to attempt to impeach, but prejudicial versus probative and a waste of time.

We are not going to put on that other trial that was not put on. This is just clear. We're not going to do that. The law does not require that we do that. The law specifically says that you can't use extrinsic information.

...I think the jury should know that she was charged. The jury should know that there was a feeling or bad blood between the parties because the jury, the, can conclude whatever they wish to conclude reference her testimony. But trying to go into the specific acts and who shot or didn't shoot, we don't have that information, and that would be totally inappropriate.

(2 AA 13-14).

The Defendant was properly limited on cross-examining Pam Neal regarding her involvement with shooting a weapon into a building which injured a little girl. The Defendant was able to get in relevant testimony regarding her involvement of crimes which involved her belief that the Defendant was responsible for the death of

her cousin. The Defendant was able to bring to the jury that the witness was charged with crimes, which may have been dismissed in return for her favorable testimony. It is clear despite the limitation that the Defendant was able to present a damaging cross-examination that brought forward the witness' creditability.

The district court's limitation of the Defendant's cross-examination was proper as the introduction of the specific details of the alleged crime would be more prejudicial than probative.

III

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY ADMITTING STATEMENTS MADE BY ANTHONY GANTT TO THE POLICE

The Defendant argues that Detective Bodnar's testimony regarding what Anthony Gantt had told him was a prior consistent statement that should not have been admitted. The Defendant's claim lacks merit as the Defendant impeached the witness regarding his testimony being a fabrication. In addition, the defendant relied on a portion of the witness' statement to which the State was appropriately allowed to rely on the same statement. Finally, the detective's testimony regarding Gantt's interview was brief and resulted in nothing more than harmless error.

Anthony Gantt was a co-defendant who, as part of a plea agreement, agreed to testify against the Defendant. In cross-examination, Gantt was impeached regarding statements he made to police on November 21, 2001 and May 7, 2001. The Defendant used the witness's statements to imply that Gantt was lying in order to preserve favor with the State. The Defendant relied on the fact that the witness's statements were somewhat inconsistent and that the District Attorney retained the right to argue when the witness would be sentenced. Later in the trial, Detective Bodnar testified. During the Detective's testimony he was asked by the State what Anthony Gantt had told him when he interviewed him on May 7, 2001. The Detective gave a brief description of Gantt's statement.

District courts are vested with considerable discretion in determining the

relevance and admissibility of evidence. <u>Castillo v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 271, 956 P.2d 103, 107 (1998) (citing <u>Atkins v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 1122, 1127, 923 P. 2d 1119, 1123 (1996)). It is clear that the District Court's decision admitting statements made by Gantt was a proper exercise of discretion.

Hearsay is "a statement offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." NRS 51.035. NRS 51.065 provides that "Hearsay is inadmissible except as provided in this chapter, Title 14 of NRS and the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure." NRS 51.035(2)(b) excludes from the definition of hearsay a statement made by a declarant who testifies at trial and is subject to cross-examination and the statement is "consistent with his testimony and offered to rebut an express or implied charge against him of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive." This Court has interpreted NRS 51.035(2)(b) as requiring prior consistent statements to have been made at a time when there was no motive on the part of the declarant to fabricate. See e.g., Daly v. State, 99 Nev. 564, 665 P.2d 798 (1983); Gibbons v. State, 97 Nev. 299, 629 P.2d 1196 (1981); Crew v. State, 100 Nev. 38, 675 P.2d 986 (1984). However, this Court has stated that, "the fact that there was another motivation to fabricate, which happened to arise before the prior consistent statement had been made, does not diminish the rehabilitative value of the statement." Cunningham v. State, 100 Nev. 396, 399, 683 P.2d 500, 502 (1984).

At trial the Defense contended that Anthony Gantt was not telling the truth because the State was able to argue for a harsher sentence if the witness did not testify the way the State wanted him to testify. (2 AA 63-64).

- Q. But you understand the prosecution has the right to make arguments to the judge when you're sentenced?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And the State could come in here and say, Judge give him an additional ten years because he turned us around or didn't say what we wanted him to say when he testified?
- MS. DELAGARZA: Objection, your honor.

THE COURT: Question stands.

THE WITNESS: Yes.

BY MR. SHIECK:

Q. So you've got a reason to try to make the State happy because you're still facing sentencing?

A. Yes.

(2 AA 63-64).

The Defendant has expressly indicated through cross-examination of the witness that the witness has a motivation to fabricate his testimony. The Defendant has specifically charged the witness with fabrication or improper motive. NRS 51.035(2)(b) states that a prior consistent statement can be admitted when it is used to "rebut an express or implied charge against him of recent fabrication or improper influence or motive." The Defendant then used the witness's prior statements in order to impeach the witness. The Defendant used both Gantt's May 7, 2001, statement to police, and Gantt's November 21, 2001 statement to police to impeach the witness. (2 AA 82, 92).

It is clear that the Defendant charged the witness with fabrication. This Court has interpreted NRS 51.035(2)(b) as requiring prior consistent statements to have been made at a time when there was no motive on the part of the declarant to fabricate. See e.g., Daly v. State, 99 Nev. 564, 665 P.2d 798 (1983); Gibbons v. State, 97 Nev. 299, 629 P.2d 1196 (1981); Crew v. State, 100 Nev. 38, 675 P.2d 986 (1984). However, this Court has also stated that if the reason for fabrication at the time the statement was made is different from the reason for fabrication at the time the testimony, it does not diminish the rehabilitative value of the statement." Cunningham v. State, 100 Nev. 396, 399, 683 P.2d 500, 502 (1984); See Crew v. State, 100 Nev. 38, 675 P.2d 986 (1984) (statement used to rehabilitate a witness is properly used even when at the time the statement is made the witness had motive to fabricate). In Cunningham, the victim had two possible motivations to fabricate, one which arose before she made the

P.2d at 502. The <u>Cunningham</u> Court stated that because the charges of fabrication arose after the prior consistent statement was made, the purpose behind NRS 51.035 was served by the introduction of the prior consistent statement to rebut the motivation for fabrication that arose after the prior consistent statement was made. <u>Id.</u> In essence the Court believed that the statement was reliable to be used for the purpose of rehabilitation of any motive for fabrication that may have arose after the statement was made; indicating that when the witness made the statement the witness did not have that particular motivation to fabricate the statement at the time the statement was made.

In the instant case, the witness did have a motivation to fabricate his statements on May 7th and November 21st, as the witness was a co-defendant in the case. However, at the time Gantt made his statements his motivation to fabricate was that he did not want to implicate himself in the murder. At trial, the Defendant indicated that Gantt's motivation for fabrication was that he needed to gain favor with the State in order to gain a lighter sentence. Therefore, at the time Gantt made his statements he did not have the same reason to fabricate his statement as he did after his statement was made.

The testimony of Detective Bodnar regarding Gantt's statements corroborated Gantt's testimony and therefore rebutted the inference of recent fabrication. The State questioned Detective Bodnar regarding what Gantt told him on May 7th, in order to rehabilitate the Defendant's implication that Gantt is lying on the stand in order to gain favor with the District Attorney's office. By offering Gantt's prior consistent statement the State was able to show that the witness has not changed his story in order to gain favor with the District Attorney's office.

In addition, the Defendant impeached the witness using the witness's statements, however the Defendant is now arguing before this Court that the Defendant was harmed by the State alluding to those same statements made by Gantt.

The Defendant "cannot be permitted to use parts of a prior statement to impeach the declarant's testimony and then to withhold that same statement from the jury on the grounds of unreliability." <u>Crew v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 38, 45, 675 P.2d 986, 990 (1984). During his impeachment of Gantt, the Defendant used Gantt's May 7th and November 21st statements to police in order to show that the witness was not being truthful or was unable to clearly say what happened. It would be fundamentally unfair to allow the Defendant to use a statement to which he has indicated to the jury, through impeachment, to be truthful, and then prohibit the State from using that same statement to show that the witness is truthful.

Finally, hearsay errors are subject to harmless error analysis. Franco v. State, 109 Nev. 1229, 1237, 866 P.2d 247, 252 (1993). Even if the District Court erred by admitting the statements Defendant alleges are inadmissible hearsay, such error was harmless and does not warrant reversal. The Defendant is asking this Court to reverse his conviction based on testimony made by Detective Bodnar which was a prior consistent statement made by another state's witness. The Defendant was not harmed by those statements as the Detective made a cursory response as to what Gantt had told him. Out of Detective Bodnar's forty-seven (47) pages of testimony Gantt's prior consistent statement was referred to in just two (2) pages. Any error that may have occurred by allowing the statement in was nothing more than harmless error.

IV

COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL

The Defendant contends that the district court erred in denying his motion for a mistrial, where a State's witness testified regarding the Defendant's statement to police. Contained in that statement was a comment that the Defendant choked on a blunt. The Defendant contends that this is a prior bad act that should not have been admitted. The district court properly denied the Defendant's motion for a mistrial as the Defendant's claim lacks merit.

5

7

10

12

11

13

14

15

16 17

18

19

20 2.1

22

23 24

25

26

27

28

NRS 48.045 states: "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident."

The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed unless manifestly wrong. Petrocelli v. State, 101 Nev. 46, 692 P.2d 503 (1985); citing Brown v. State, 81 Nev. 397, 400, 404 P.2d 428, 430 (1965); See also Kazalyn v. State, 108 Nev. 67, 825 P.2d 578 (1992). When admitting prior bad act evidence, the district court should conduct a recorded hearing that allows a meaningful opportunity to review the district court's exercise of discretion. Armstrong v. State, 110 Nev. 1322, 1324, 885 P.2d 600, 601 (1994); see also Petrocelli, 101 Nev. at 51, 692 P.2d at 508.

NRS 48.035(3) provides:

Evidence of another act or crime which is so closely related to an act in controversy or a crime charged that an ordinary witness cannot describe the act in controversy or the crime charged without referring to the other act or crime shall not

It is well established law in Nevada that all facts necessary to prove a crime charged, when linked to a chain of events, are admissible. In Brackeen v. State, 104 Nev. 547, 763 P.2d 59 (1988), this Court adopted this general rule and held that evidence of prior bad acts was admissible because "... the State is entitled to present a full and accurate account of the circumstances surrounding the commission of a crime, and such evidence is admissible even if it implicates the accused in the commission of other crimes for which he has not been charged." See Shults v. State, 96 Nev. 742, 616 P.2d 388 (1980); Dutton v. State, 94 Nev. 461, 581 P.2d 856 (1978), overruled on other grounds, Gray v. State, 100 Nev. 556, 688 P.2d 313 (1984). Moreover, the decision of the district court to admit such prior bad act evidence rests within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal

absent a showing that the ruling was manifestly wrong. <u>Brinkley v. State</u>, 101 Nev. 676, 708 P.2d 1026 (1985); <u>Gallego v. State</u>, 101 Nev. 782, 711 P.2d 856 (1985), *cert. denied*, <u>Gallego v. Nevada</u>, 479 U.S. 871, 107 S.Ct. 246 (1986).

In the instant case, while on direct examination Detective Bodnar summarized what the Defendant had confessed to him. During that summary of the Defendant's statement the Detective indicated that the Defendant had mentioned choking on a blunt.

Later on in the interview, he started to say how he was in the are; that he was walking through the back of the apartments; that he had a gun on him; that he heard the shots. He went to run, choked on a blunt, as he put it.

(4 AA 89).

The Defendant believes that the district court erred when it denied the Defendant's motion for a mistrial based on this one statement. The district court immediately stated that the comment was a harmless error and provided an opportunity for the Defendant to poll the jury after the trial in order to determine even if they knew what a blunt was. Although the Detective's statement may have indicated to the jury a prior bad act that the Defendant has performed, the statement did not amount to anything more than harmless error.

V

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON MALICE

The Defendant argues that jury instructions ten (10) and eleven (11) were unconstitutionally vague and denied the Defendant due process. The Defendant attacks the phrase "abandoned and malignant heart" within the definition of implied malice³, stating that the phrase is, "devoid of rational content and are merely

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